

DARDANUP WEST / CROOKED BROOK STRUCTURE PLAN



Endorsed by WAPC - 7th August 2007

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. 1.1	INTRODUCTION General	1
1.2	Structure Plan Boundary	1
1.3	Attributes	2
1.4	Terminology	3
2.0	PLANNING CONTEXT	4
2.1	Bunbury-Wellington Region Plan	4
2.2	Draft Greater Bunbury Region Scheme	4
2.3	Statement of Planning Policy 2.5 Agricultural and Rural Land Use Planning Shire of Dardanup Rural Strategy	ng 4
2.5	Dardanup West Planning Strategy	5
2.6	Shire of Dardanup Local Planning Strategy	5
3.0	ADJOINING INDUSTRIAL LAND	6
4.0	EXISTING INFRASTRUCTURE	7
4.1	Main Drains	7
4.2	Roads	7 7 7 7
4.3 4.4	Reticulated Water and Sewerage Power and Telecommunications	7
4.5	Fire Response Units	7
4.6	Community and Commercial Facilities	8
4.7	Dardanup Equestrian Centre	8
5.0	PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT	9
5.1	Soil/Landform Units and Drainage	9
5.2	Significant Wetlands and Waterways	12
5.3 5.4	Remnant Native Vegetation Acid Sulphate Soils	13 13
5.4	Acid Sulphate Solis	15
6.0	LAND CAPABILITY FOR SMALL HOLDING LOTS	14
7.0	OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS	15
8.0	STRUCTURE PLAN	16
8.1	Lot Yield	16
8.2 8.3	Lot Sizes Lots Fronting Established Roads	16
8.4	Battleaxe Lots	16
8.5	Boyanup AA Lot and Part Wellington Location 293	17
8.6	Drainage	17
8.7	Drainage Detention Areas	18
8.8	Tenure of Drains and Drainage Areas	18
8.9 8.10	Notification on Certificate of Title Road Network	19
8.11	Bridle Paths	20
8.12		20
8.13	Public Open Space – Drainage Swales and Drainage Areas	20
8.14		20
8.15	Vegetation Protection and Revegetation	20

8.16	Bush Fire Protection	21
8.17	Land Use Constraints	21
8.18	Road and Infrastructure Upgrades	22
9.0	DARDANUP WEST CROOKED BROOK PLANNING POLICY STATEMENTS	23
LIST	OF FIGURES	
FIGURE	1: LOCATION PLAN	
FIGURE	2: DRAINAGE PLAN	
FIGURE	3: LAND FORMS	
FIGURE	4: WETLANDS, VEGETATION AND ACID SULPHATE SOILS	
FIGURE	5: OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS	
FIGURE	6: DARDANUP WEST/ CROOKED BROOK STRUCTURE PLAN	

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: HYDROLOGICAL REPORT

DARDANUP WEST / CROOKED BROOK STRUCTURE PLAN

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 General

The Structure Plan encompasses an area to the west of Dardanup townsite and is bound in part by the Picton-Boyanup Road on the east and the Preston River on the west. In order to integrate the past development with the future development the Plan includes the existing rural residential developments in the Dardanup West locality.

It provides a framework for the rezoning, subdivision and development of land for rural residential lots to cater for some of the expected lot demand within the Shire of Dardanup over the next ten years.

1.2 Structure Plan Boundary

The Structure Plan boundary was determined after consideration of the following matters.

Need of More Rural Residential Lots

The draft Local Planning Strategy indicates that around 450 additional lots will be required in the Shire up to 2016. This is in accord with the lower range of lot demand that was estimated in the approved Rural Strategy (p66).

The Strategy proposes to allocate two thirds of the lots, or 300 lots, in the Structure Plan area. The remaining one third of the lots will be allocated in other areas of the Shire.

The area of land required to yield the 300 lots needs to be about one third greater to account for landowners who, for many reasons, do not wish to develop their land within the planning timeframes. The Shire sought expressions of interest from landowners who might develop over the planning timeframe. The response indicated that around 255 lots might be created.

On the basis of an additional one third, there will have to be enough land to generate around 450 lots.

Consolidation of Existing Rural Residential Development

Consolidating rural residential development in this area is consistent with Commission policy. Two thirds of the area is identified in the Rural Strategy as an area where rural residential development is a preferred land use. Adding to this area is considered sensible planning.

The area is adjacent to the town of Dardanup. The State Planning Policy No.2.5, Agricultural and Rural Land Use Planning (2002), has an objective to: *Plan and provide for rural settlement where it can* –

a. benefit and support existing communities, and

b. have access to appropriate community services and infrastructure.

Appendix 2 of the Policy sets out criteria for the identification and planning of rural settlements. Appropriate criteria for this matter are achieving denser forms of rural settlement and rural residential....areas should be located where they are accessible to urban services and employment opportunities....the location of settlements likely to support existing townsites or service centres in nodal or clustered estates is preferred.

Western Boundary

The western boundary was determined by the existing Rural Strategy boundary, the adjoining industrial area and the Shire boundary.

Eastern Boundary North of Garvey Road

This boundary north of Garvey Road was determined as the Picton-Boyanup Road. To the east of this road is the major part of the Collie Irrigation District which is a Priority Agricultural Area.

Inside this section of the eastern boundary is a small amount of the Collie Irrigation District. However it is recognised that this area is most likely to be retired from irrigation. It was therefore logical to integrate it with the adjoining rural residential lot development and the town of Dardanup.

Eastern Boundary South of Garvey Road

This boundary was determined after eliminating areas of land west of the Picton-Boyanup Road that were predominantly poorly drained with little or no established main drains and very little of the Bassendean Sand Dune soil/landform unit. Also the area of the eliminated southeast sector was in excess of the area required to provide the lot target.

1.3 Attributes

The Dardanup West/Crooked Brook area has been the principal area of rural residential lot development in the Shire for approximately 30 years. It has the following attributes that satisfy the requirements of the State Planning Policy No.2.5, *Agricultural and Rural Land Use Planning*.

- The land is not prime agricultural land even though there is a small part in the South West Irrigation Area.
- It is close to the town of Dardanup and the rural residential population can benefit and support the community and commercial facilities of the town.

- There are job opportunities in the town and surrounding rural land, the adjoining industrial area and in Bunbury which is 20 minutes driving time away.
- The physical environment provides for an attractive semi-rural lifestyle. Also the lot sizes and proximity to the Dardanup Equestrian Centre make it an attractive area for the keeping of recreational horses.

1.4 Terminology

The Shire of Dardanup Town Planning Scheme No.3 has a Small Holding zone and does not differentiate between rural residential and smallholding lots as required under the State Planning Policy No.2.5. The Structure Plan uses the Policy terminology even though rezonings will occur under the Small Holding zone until the Scheme is reviewed.

2.0 PLANNING CONTEXT

The following planning documents have guided the preparation of the Structure Plan.

2.1 Bunbury-Wellington Region Plan

The Bunbury Wellington Region Plan (BWRP) recognised that there would be population growth in the rural areas surrounding the Dardanup townsite (see page 145 of BWRP) and that careful planning of rural residential development was needed to minimise the impact on this growth on the natural environment and not constrain the future expansion of Dardanup (see page 91 of BWRP).

The Western Australian Planning Commission have determined that the future expansion of the Dardanup townsite should only occur east of the Picton-Boyanup Road. The Structure Plan does not impact on this land.

2.2 Draft Greater Bunbury Region Scheme

The Structure Plan area is zoned Rural under the Region Scheme. A portion of land on the western edge of the Structure Plan area is within the South West Irrigation Area. The irrigation area is identified as priority agricultural land under the Region Scheme and is protected for long-term agriculture. However it is recognised that because of the location and proximity of this land to existing rural residential development that it is likely to revert to the same land use in the future although the timing of that change may not be within the next ten years.

2.3 Statement of Planning Policy 2.5 Agricultural and Rural Land Use Planning

This Policy is the principal planning document. It sets out objectives and matters to be addressed in the identification and planning of areas for rural settlement.

The planning of the area has taken into account the need to protect prime agricultural land, provide good access to existing centres and locate rural settlement where it can benefit from and support existing centres.

It also proposes lot sizes that are predominantly in the range of 1 to 4 hectares, that is, rural residential lots. The Plan addresses a range of issues including reticulated water, lot demand, road access, land

capability, on-site effluent disposal, stormwater drainage and the physical environment.

2.4 Shire of Dardanup Rural Strategy

The land north of Garvey and Dardanup Road West is included in the Rural Strategy as an area where "Council will support rural residential development as a mechanism to encourage revegetation and create an environmental buffer to the Preston River subject to" there being suitable sites for houses, resolving where necessary nutrient export, on-site effluent disposal and providing for revegetation. The Plan addresses these matters.

2.5 Dardanup West Planning Strategy

In 2001, the Dardanup West Planning Strategy was prepared. The Department for Planning and Infrastructure requested further work to address the rationale for the area chosen, the relationship to the Local Planning Strategy, the possibility of lot re-subdivision, wetlands and drainage, land capability, infrastructure and the adjoining industrial area. These matters have been addressed in the Structure Plan.

2.6 Shire of Dardanup Local Planning Strategy

The Local Planning Strategy is yet to be finalised however, the following findings are relevant to the Structure Plan.

- Almost 60% of all the small holding lots in the Shire are located in the Structure Plan area.
- There is demand in the area for more lots. The occupancy rate is over 75%.
- There is an estimated demand for 470 rural residential lots up to 2016. This Plan provides land for approximately 400 rural residential lots although for many reasons it is usual for between one quarter and one third of all potential lots not to be developed within the planning timeframes. Therefore the lot yield from the Structure Plan up to 2016 is likely to between 270 and 300 lots. This data is sourced from the Shire of Dardanup Rural Strategy, June 2000.

3.0 ADJOINING INDUSTRIAL LAND

To the north-west of the Structure Plan area is a sawmill, particleboard factory and sand blasting plant (Figure 5). There are planning proposals, that are currently being reviewed, to zone additional land for general and light industry and for some of the land between the sawmill and the existing rural residential lots to be a buffer area ("Industry 2030 – Greater Bunbury Industrial Land and Port Access Planning", Western Australian Planning Commission, 2000"). The outcome of the review was not available at the time of preparation of the Plan.

The existing and future industries will have to ensure that emission levels are not exceeded at the lot boundaries of the rural residential lots.

4.0 EXISTING INFRASTRUCTURE

4.1 Main Drains

Much of the Structure Plan area has been artificially drained. The network of main drains is shown in Figure 2.

The drains in the northern part of the Structure Plan area have no constraints. However the sub-drains that discharge water northwards from the central and southern parts of the Structure Plan area are constrained by limited capacity. A hydrological study (appended) was undertaken by JDA Consultant Hydrologists that proposes measures to address this issue.

4.2 Roads

The Structure Plan area is serviced by the main Picton-Boyanup Road. The Garvey Road/Dardanup Road West Road link is a local distributor that connects the Picton-Boyanup Road to the South West Highway and is one of the few roads to cross the Preston River.

This link has two right-angle corners that create potential safety problems. An alternative alignment is proposed.

The Structure Plan area is well serviced by numerous internal subdivision roads. However, connection with the Dardanup townsite is poor with only Venn Road from the north. The Structure Plan proposes an additional road connection from the central area to the town

4.3 Reticulated Water and Sewerage

Both services are available in Dardanup townsite but it is not economically viable to supply these services to the future rural residential lots. Also it is considered unnecessary to supply them because the respective functions can adequately handled by household water tanks and on-site effluent disposal systems.

4.4 Power and Telecommunications

The Structure Plan area is serviced with both power and telecommunications.

4.5 Fire Response Units

There are fire response units located in the Dardanup townsite and at the western end of Garvey Road in the centre of the Structure Plan area. The Fire and Emergency Authority advise that no additional facilities will be required.

4.6 Community and Commercial Facilities

Except for the equestrian centre, there are no community or commercial facilities in the Structure Plan area. The nearest facilities are located in the Dardanup townsite which will be readily accessible from the rural residential lots.

There is a need for a small area where community members can meet. A picnic area along the Preston River is the preferred location. Such an area should be part of a Foreshore Management Plan.

4.7 Dardanup Equestrian Centre

The location of the Equestrian Centre is shown in Figure 1. It is a major centre in the South West for equestrian activities. Its location within the Structure Plan area is a major attraction. Many existing residents in the area keep recreational horses.

5.0 PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT

5.1 Soil/Landform Units and Drainage

The landforms within the Structure Plan area are a mosaic of the Bassendean Dune and Pinjarra Plain systems (Figure 3). The Bassendean Dune system consists of dunes and sand plains interspersed with swampy flats. The Pinjarra Plain system consists of old alluvial deposits of loams and clays that are overlain in areas by sand. The system is flat and often poorly drained.

These landforms create a perched water table of varying depth. Many of the soils become saturated at times during winter and there are some areas of inundation. There is slow off-site drainage that is facilitated in much of the Structure Plan area by the artificial drains that take away the excess water.

The minimum summer level of the perched watertable is generally around 1.5 to 2 metres below the natural surface level. In the deeper sandy areas it can be further down. The regional watertable is several metres below the perched watertable (see the appended report by JDA Consultant Hydrologists).

The Structure Plan has been divided into three areas for the purposes of describing the soil/landform units and drainage.

The soil/landform units have been mapped and described by B.A. Barnesby, P.D. King, P.J. Tille and M.E. Proulx-Nixon (Agrivulture Western Australia1998) and comprise the Pinjarra Plain and Bassendean Sand Dune Systems (Figure 3).

Northern Area

Soil/Landform Units

The dominant Pinjarra Plain Subsystem is Pj3 (Figure 3a). It consists of a flat to very gently undulating plain of loam and clay loam surface horizons over gradational earths and duplex soils.

There are also small areas of Pinjarra Plain Subsystems Pj1a, Pj1b and Pj8. Subsystem Pj1a has shallower sandy loams of less than 50 cms over clay. Subsystems Pj1b and Pj8 have moderately deep sands and sandy loams of between 50 and 100 cms over clay.

All of the Pinjarra Plain soils are poorly drained and can be prone to saturation following rainfall. The sub-soil clays create lower permeability that can lead to waterlogging. In some very small areas there can be seasonal surface inundation.

The Bassendean Sand Dune System consists of very low sandy rises or dunes and sandplains generally with comparatively deep sands. There are some small areas of closed depressions.

The majority of the System consists of low sandy rises and dunes (Bs1) or very gently undulating sandplain (Bs2). Both have deep sands that are generally greater than 1 metre with some greater than 2 metre. These Subsystems have high permeability.

Some sandplain country (Bs6) have deep sands that have high permeability although they can have imperfect drainage.

There are some areas that are closed depressions (Bs3) with moderately deep sands with clay generally less than one metre deep. These areas are poorly drained.

Groundwater

From work undertaken by JDA Consultant Hydrologists (JDA Report) there is in some areas, particularly the Pinjarra Plain System, a perched water table that is above the regional water table.

Surface Drainage

As described in the JDA Report, the natural drainage system comprises the lower parts of the landscape where the perched water table intercepts the natural surface resulting in inundation and slow drainage generally in a north-west direction towards the Preston River

The surface drainage is intercepted by artificial drains. Figure 7 of the JDA Report shows the Water Corporation drains in this northern area being Gavins Gully Drain, Tiger Drain and Busher Drain.

Although these drains are main drains with substantial capacity, they were constructed to function as "rural drains" to remove surface water and reduce pasture waterlogging.

The JDA Report points out the existing drainage was not intended for rural residential or higher density development.

Central Area

Soil/Landform Units

The Pinjarra Plain System consists primarily of two subsystems that are distinguished by the depth of permeable sand and loamy sand overlying a clay subsoil that has low permeability. Subsystem Pj1b consists of moderately deep sands or sandy loams over clay. Subsystem Pj2 has shallower sands or sandy loams of less than 50cm over clay. Both are characterised by imperfect drainage during the winter months and waterlogging and some areas of inundation are likely. These comprise about 80% of the central area.

The Bassendean System consists of very low sand rises or dunes of deep leached grey sands with high permeability (subsystems Bs1, Bs1a and Bs2). Interdunal sandy and clay swamps (Bs3) have low permeability.

Groundwater and Surface Drainage These are described in detail in the JDA Report.

South West Area

Soil/Landform Units

The soil/landform units have been mapped and described by Barnesby et al (1998) and comprise the Pinjarra Plain and Bassendean Sand Dune Systems (Figure 3).

This land consists of a mosaic of Pinjarra Plain and Bassendean Sand Dune Systems. Through this mosaic is the Crooked Brook and minor tributaries to the Brook and the Preston River.

The major Pinjarra Plain Subsystem is Pj6a. It is described as very gently to undulating alluvial terraces contiguous with the plain, with moderately well to well drained soils that are predominantly acidic red and yellow duplex soils.

There is a very small area of Pinjarra Plain Subsystem Pj6c consisting of very gently undulating alluvial terraces and fans. The soils are brown loams or earths that are moderately well drained.

The Pinjarra Plain Subsystem Pj9 shallow incised stream channels of minor creeks and the Crooked Brook with deep mottled yellow duplex soils.

These alluvial terrace subsystems and the stream channel subsystem contain some Conservation and Resource Enhancement wetlands.

Over half the area is covered by Bassendean Sand Dune Subsystem Bs1 or Bs1a. These are described as extremely low to very low relief dunes, undulating sandplain and discrete sand rises with deep bleached grey sands. Underlying this in some areas can be a weak iron-organic hardpan. It is generally at depths greater than two metres.

There are some areas that are closed depressions (Bs3) with moderately deep sands with clay generally less than one metre deep. These areas are poorly drained.

Some areas of these Bassendean Sand Dune Subsystems are covered with native remnant vegetation.

Groundwater

From work undertaken by JDA Consultant Hydrologists (JDA Report) there is in some areas, particularly the Pinjarra Plain System, a perched water table that is above the regional water table.

Surface Drainage

Surface drainage in this area varies. In the north there are small areas where the system comprises the lower parts of the landscape where

the perched water table intercepts the natural surface resulting in inundation and slow drainage towards the Preston River

The central and southern sections comprise drainage via the watercourses of Crooked Brook and minor streams.

5.2 Significant Wetlands and Waterways

The significant wetlands within the Structure Plan area are shown in Figure 4. They have been identified by the Department for Environment and Conservation. There may be other minor wetlands that could be identified at the rezoning or subdivision stages. At this stage the Department for Environment and Conservation could not indicate the significance of any other wetlands.

There are several Environmental Protection Policy (EPP) wetlands and Conservation wetlands where the objective is preservation. EPP wetlands are protected by policy made under the Environment Protection Act.

Resource Enhancement wetlands are classed as priority where the "ultimate objective is for management, restoration and protection" (Position Statement: Wetlands, Water and Rivers Commission).

In order that wetlands be pro-actively managed they should be the subject of conservation covenants. This mechanism is one of several suggested in the position statement and is considered the one that will result in the most positive results.

The significant waterways within the Structure Plan area are Crooked Brook and the Preston River. These waterways are considered to be ecologically significant and the Preston River was identified as significant open space (Environmental Protection Authority, Bulletin 1108, 2003 and Bunbury-Wellington Region Plan, Western Australian Planning Commission, 1995). Both of these waterways have a conservation status and are precluded from development, horses and stock. At the rezoning and subdivision stages a foreshore reserve may be required.

No dwelling should be constructed within 50 metres of the fringing vegetation of a waterway. Also, where necessary, revegetation of the fringing vegetation is to be undertaken to the specifications and satisfaction of the Department for Environment and Conservation.

5.3 Remnant Native Vegetation

Remnant vegetation within the Structure Plan area is shown in Figure 4. Where possible subdivision and development should minimise the amount of remnant vegetation cleared however where it is inevitable, revegetation should be carried out. Vegetation around wetlands and waterways should be protected as described in section 5.2. This includes the fringing vegetation along Crooked Brook and the Preston River.

5.4 Acid Sulphate Soils

Western Australian Planning Commission Bulletin No. 64 identifies possible areas where there could be a high risk of encountering acid sulphate soils. These are shown in Figure 4. At the development stage testing for acid sulphate soils should be carried out and if found, mitigating measures outlined by the Department for Environment and Conservation should be undertaken.

6.0 LAND CAPABILITY FOR SMALL HOLDING LOTS

The land capability of the various soil/landform units has been described by M R Wells (Land Capability Study of the Shires of Mandurah and Murray, Department of Agriculture, 1989) and P Tille (Rural Strategy Appendix 2 Land Resources & Suitability, Shire of Dardanup, 2000).

Except for small areas such as the closed depressions (Pj3) and stream channels (Pj9) that are not suitable for development, the Pinjarra Plain subsystems in general have a fair rating for rural residential development with the major limitations being created from poor drainage in some areas. This can cause potential problems for house construction and conventional septic on-site effluent disposal.

The Bassendean Sands Dune subsystems have a fair to high capability for house construction and a low capability for conventional septic onsite effluent disposal. The low capability is caused largely by the high permeability of the sandy soils of the low rises and dunes and/or the poor drainage of small areas of closed basins.

These land capability limitations have been encountered and readily managed on land that has been developed for rural residential lots within the Structure Plan area. The measures that have been successfully used to manage the limitations include house pads, alternative effluent disposal systems and lot sizes that suit the physical conditions. These measures, where appropriate, will be applied to future rural residential development.

7.0 OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS

There are a range of opportunities and constraints for future small holding development within the Structure Plan area. These are described in Figure 5.

The development of rural residential lots on the land currently within the South West Irrigation System (eastern most portion of the Structure Plan area adjacent to the Boyanup-Picton Road) is expected to be beyond 2016. .

Land in the lower south-west sector of the Structure Plan area has a range of environmental constraints but there are opportunities for innovative design and management to create small holding lots. It is considered that this area would be best developed using lot clustering within strata title management.

The remainder of the Structure Plan area has opportunities for small holding lots providing the physical conditions are taken into account. This is discussed in the next section of this report.

8.0 STRUCTURE PLAN

8.1 Lot Yield

This Plan provides land for approximately 400 rural residential lots although for many reasons it is usual for between one quarter and one third of all potential lots not to be developed. Therefore the lot yield from the Structure Plan up to 2016 is likely to between 270 and 300 lots.

8.2 Lot Sizes

It is proposed that lot sizes will be an average of 2 hectares and minimum of 1 hectare. However each rezoning will have different soil, landform and drainage conditions and lots may need to be greater than two hectares to accommodate suitable building sites with access.

Each rezoning application should contain a landform evaluation and demonstrate that the proposed lot sizes will satisfy the intent of this Structure Plan. Each rezoning proposal will be treated on its merit.

8.3 Lots Fronting Established Roads

Some of the established roads have trees and shrubs along the verges that provide an attractive environment. Although road widening and other road improvements will be carried out on some of these roads every endeavour will be made to retain this vegetation.

However in some instances, there may be situations where there is minimal driver visibility for vehicles entering the road. In these cases lots fronting established roads will have to be designed to ensure that vehicle access onto those roads can be carried out safely with suitable driver visibility along the road. Where this cannot be achieved then alternative points of access from lots will have to be designed. This may involve fronting the lots onto internal subdivision roads rather than the established road.

8.4 Battleaxe Lots

Battleaxe lots are not encouraged, particularly along the Preston River foreshore however in certain circumstances they could be an appropriate design solution. For example, battleaxe configuration could minimise the amount of road and stormwater drainage required or minimise clearing of vegetation. The use of battleaxe lots will be assessed on the merits of each case.

8.5 Boyanup AA Lot and Part Wellington Location 293

This land is affected by the Dardanup Pine Log Sawmill Agreement Act, 1992 where the creation of small holding lots will be restricted. The landowners, Shire and the sawmill proprietors have been in consultation to find a satisfactory solution enabling some land to be purchased by the sawmill and the rest subdivided. A rezoning amendment (Amendment No.135 to Town Planning Scheme No.3 and Amendment No.3 to Town Planning Scheme No.4) is currently being processed to achieve future subdivision of part of the land.

8.6 Drainage

The drainage study conducted by JDA Consulting Hydrologists proposes a new drainage system for the central area. Also, from this report the drainage principles and measures for the Structure Plan as a whole have been developed.

Central Area Stormwater Drainage

The central area drainage created by the rural residential development is proposed to be discharged west rather than north (the JDA Report is appended).

Internal subdivisional roads have been designed to run parallel to drains wherever possible. Roads can discharge directly into the drains or via roadside drains. Locating the roads and drains as close as possible will facilitate water discharge in a major storm event. It will also facilitate easy drain maintenance.

It is proposed that the drains, including the roadside drains, will be constructed as swales. As the summer perched watertable is about 1.5 to 2 metres below natural ground level, the drainage works will not lower the groundwater table.

In order to accommodate the roadside swales the road reserve may need to be wider than 20 metres.

The existing main drains presently discharge excess water from farming land. While small holding development will occur on some land, other land will remain as agricultural holdings. The drains that are constructed for the small holding lots must be capable of effectively draining farm land.

The hydrologist's report indicates that post-development conditions will be at least the same as the pre-development conditions.

Stormwater Drainage and Measures

The drainage proposals for the development of additional rural residential lots will based on the principles outlined in the JDA Report.

These principles will be applied at the stage of a rezoning proposal to demonstrate that the particular land can be satisfactorily developed.

The two key principles are:

- the post-development discharge into the Water Corporation drains should be the same or very similar to the pre-development drainage; and
- sub-soil drainage will not be permitted because of the risk that it could significantly modify the water balance and have detrimental environmental impacts.

Water will have to be discharged via an attenuation system of roadside swales and detention areas (not basins) before being discharged into the Water Corporation drains. The natural areas of inundation could be identified and developed as detention areas.

The depth of the swales and detention areas will be limited by the depth to the sub-surface clay layer so that it is not penetrated.

These principles and measures are included in the Planning Policy.

8.7 Drainage Detention Areas

The hydrological report for the land south of Garvey Road has divided the land into a number of sub-catchments each with a detention basin. These 'basins' should be understood as detention areas or swale areas the primary function of which is water attenuation. The characteristics of these areas, including their possible size, are shown in the hydrologist's report although each rezoning application will be required to determine these drainage areas.

These areas should be developed as annual wetlands with appropriate vegetation. They can be significant public open space features and provide amenity and recreating opportunities for local residents or remain parts of private property with easements in favour of the Shire to enable maintenance to occur.

8.8 Tenure of Drains and Drainage Areas

Where the drains are existing then they will probably require reserves or easements. Generally these will be in favour of the Shire which will have the maintenance responsibility. Some of the drains such as Gavins Gully may require fencing. Many of the existing drains are on the register of the Water Corporation. When subdivision occurs then it is likely that the responsibility for the drain will revert to the Shire.

The newly constructed drainage swales and drainage swale areas will also require reserves or easements. Roadside swales could be part of the road reserve.

8.9 Notification on Certificate of Title

Because of the low-lying nature of the area and the generally slow offsite discharge there will be times when waterlogging occurs and even possibly some inundation. It is considered advisable that lot owners are aware of these possibilities. At the stage of subdivision, at notification should be placed on all newly created Certificates of Title advising of this potential.

8.10 Road Network

An indicative network of subdivision roads is shown on the Structure Plan which may be changed at the detailed design stage. However there are several key objectives that will apply.

- a) Wherever possible roads should be aligned with the drains:
- An additional connection between Dardanup townsite and the Structure Plan area is required;
- The Garvey Road/Dardanup west Road realignment is to occur on an alignment agreed to between the subdivider and the Shire; and
- d) A road following the Preston River foreshore reserve is to abut the reserve wherever possible.

The Garvey Road/Dardanup Road West link is an important local distributor road. It provides one of the few crossings of the Preston River. From observation it already carries a range of traffic including moderate to heavier vehicles. The Shire considers that the link will become more important in the future with the growth of the region.

The link has developed along two rural roads and it needs to be realigned to proper distributor road standards. It is proposed to realign this link as indicated on the Structure Plan. The final alignment is to be agreed between the subdivider and the Shire.

The foreshore road is for access of the public, shire maintenance vehicles and fire fighting vehicles. The road will also act as a separation between the high fire hazard of the river bushland and the small holding lots (see AS 3.4.1(ii) in WAPC Policy D.C 3.7, Fire and Emergency Services Authority and Western Australian Planning Commission).

Due to topographic constraints, there will be places where the road will not be able to abut the foreshore reserve. Where this occurs, alternative access must be provided in accord with the access track standards (ibid AS 3.4.3).

8.11 Bridle Paths

One of the major attractions of this area is the equestrian centre and the keeping of recreational horses. A network of bridle paths is therefore necessary for the safety and amenity of horse riders. A network of bridle paths already exists north of Garvey Road and it will be a requirement of subdivision that the bridle path network connect to the equestrian centre. The proposed connections are shown on the Structure Plan

8.12 Public Open Space - Preston River\Crooked Brook Foreshore Reserve

Public open space is to be provided along the Preston River and Crooked Brook in the form of a foreshore reserve. The width of the reserve is to be determined to the satisfaction of the Western Australian Planning Commission after considering the need for detention areas in the open space and matters of the foreshore road and access.

8.13 Public Open Space - Drainage Swales and Drainage Areas

Drainage swales and detention areas/swales could be open space reservations. However, the Shire should be consulted prior to any such open space being created.

8.14 Open Space Management Plans

The subdivider is to prepare a management plan for the Preston River and Crooked Brook foreshore and any drainage open space. These plans are to be prepared to the specifications and satisfaction of the Shire and in the case of the Preston River foreshore plan, also the specifications and satisfaction of the Fire and Emergency Services Authority.

The foreshore management plan for the Preston River is to incorporate a community picnic area and any other community facilities required by Council. The cost of the development of the picnic area and any other facilities will be the subject of the Council's Contribution Policy.

8.15 Vegetation Protection and Revegetation

Vegetation is to be protected wherever possible however some will inevitably be destroyed by development. Where this occurs revegetation should be carried out so that there is no net loss of vegetation. To ensure minimal loss of vegetation, development should

be sited in areas already cleared wherever possible and horses and stock should be fenced off from vegetation.

Revegetation of road reserves, open space and existing lots should be a requirement of subdivision and development respectively. Landscaping plans should be prepared by the subdivider and lot owners.

8.16 Bush Fire Protection

Generally, the Structure Plan area has a medium bush fire hazard classification (M McNamara, FESA,2006) with areas of vegetation along the Preston River and several groupings of remnant vegetation being classified as a high bush fire hazard. The proposed road along the Preston River foreshore reserve will act as a hazard separation. Building setbacks may be applied to achieve additional separation. Similarly, with vegetation groupings there will need to be measures that in combination provide satisfactory bush fire protection.

There are fire response units in Dardanup townsite and on Garvey Road in the centre of the Structure Plan area. The Fire and Emergency Services Authority have advised that no additional fire fighting facilities will be required.

Reticulated water will not be supplied to the Structure Plan area and as such, water for fire fighting purposes will need to be supplemented from household rain water tanks. It is to be a requirement of subdivision that household rain water tanks are to be designed and fitted to supply at least 10,000 litres of water for fire fighting purposes. The tanks are to be constructed with a hardstand and turnaround area and provision made for the easy access of fire fighting vehicles.

At the stage of subdivision a fire management plan should be prepared by the subdivider and to the specifications and satisfaction of the Shire and the Fire and Emergency Services Authority.

8.17 Land Use Constraints

Some land use restrictions are proposed to ensure that residential amenity is maintained and to ensure that certain land uses do not adverse affect water quality. These restrictions are as follows.

- The commercial production of fruit and vegetables will not be permitted.
- The numbers of stock will be restricted to the stocking rates prescribed by the Department of Agriculture.
- c) The number of horses is to be restricted to one per hectare with a maximum of three.

- d) Commercial horse studs and horse racing stables will not be permitted.
- e) Dog kennels will not be permitted.
- f) Owners of horses and stock are to ensure that measures are in place to prevent dust pollution and soil erosion.
- g) Remedial action will be required to be undertaken by the lot owner if soil erosion and land degradation occurs.

8.18 Road and Infrastructure Upgrades

The subdivider will be required to contribute to the cost of road and community facility upgrades at the stage of subdivision in accordance with Council policy.

9.0 DARDANUP WEST CROOKED BROOK PLANNING POLICY STATEMENTS

(To be read in conjunction with Figure 6)

IMPLEMENTATION

Prior to subdivision or development being considered for Rural Small Holdings, a town planning scheme amendment shall be required to appropriately zone the land: This will include the requirement for the first amendment to insert land use provisions within Appendix VIII of the Shire's Town Planning Scheme No.3 as outlined below.

Subsequent rezoning applications will add lot details within the "Area" column of Appendix VIII.

The following are suggested provisions to be inserted in Appendix VIII

- Subdivision and Development Criteria
 - (a) Subdivision shall be generally in accordance with a Subdivision Guide Plan, adopted by Council and the WAPC.
 - (b) The minimum lot size shall be 1ha, with a required average of 2ha. Larger lots may be required to preserve or enhance landscape qualities or other site specific issues.
 - (c) Council may adopt or refuse any proposed modifications to the approved Subdivision Guide Plan by way of resolution of Council where the modifications are consistent with the purpose and objectives of the zone. Where modifications to the Subdivision Guide Plan are proposed, the Council shall require the modifications to be advertised for public comment for a period of 21 days prior to considering the proposed modification.
 - (d) The Council shall forward a copy of any modifications referred to in clause (c) above, once these have been considered by Council, to the Western Australian Planning Commission for its consideration. The modified Subdivision Guide Plan will not come into effect until adopted by the Western Australian Planning Commission.
 - (e) Council will require a Subdivision Guide Plan to address the following issues where applicable:
 - a) drainage and stormwater disposal
 - b) heritage
 - c) areas of environmental significant
 - d) areas of Acid Sulphate Soil
 - e) wetlands
 - f) potential land use conflicts
 - g) bushfire hazard assessment
 - h) bushfire hazard
 - i) flora and fauna
 - j) land capability

- k) effluent disposal
- boundary fencing
- m) design guidelines for buildings
- n) setbacks from areas of significance
- o) foreshore setbacks, management and interface
- p) provision and location of community facilities
- q) building envelopes
- r) minimising use of battleaxe lots
- s) bridle path networks
- t) tree preservation areas and revegetation, buffer planting

2. Land Use Controls

- (a) As for the zoning table and Clause 3.14.1 except that:
 - (i) Dog kennels will not be permitted.
 - Stables will only be permitted where horses are for hobby purposes. Commercial stud or racing stables will not be permitted.

The number of horses permitted is one per hectare up to a maximum of three horses.

If in the opinion of Council or the Department of Agriculture, the activities of livestock on any lot are contributing to erosion, pollution or the degradation of vegetation, the landowner may be required to erect and maintain a fence of satisfactory standard in order to protect the area and exclude livestock. Alternatively, the landowner may be required to remove, or Council may remove livestock from the lot.

(iii) The number of allowable stock, excluding horses, shall be restricted to the stock rates prescribed by the Department of Agriculture. The area of the lot is to be calculated excluding any areas that are fenced off for vegetation/wetland protection.

3. Development Provisions

Effluent Disposal

- (a) Disposal of onsite effluent is to be via alternative systems except where otherwise recommended by a geotechnical report to the specifications and satisfaction of Council and the Department of Health.
- (b) Effluent disposal systems are to be located a minimum of 50m from any watercourse or wetland. A greater setback may be required depending on the outcome of a site assessment.
- (c) The subdivider is to submit with a subdivision application a site and soil evaluation for each lot, prepared by a suitably qualified consultant in accordance with Australian Standards and Government guidelines to determine an appropriate onsite domestic waste water treatment

system and its location to meet health and environmental objectives to the satisfaction of the Council and Department of Health

Drainage

(d) Council will request that the WAPC impose a condition of subdivision requiring the preparation and implementation of a drainage strategy to the satisfaction of Council.

The drainage strategy shall be generally in accordance with the principles and philosophies detailed in the Dardanup West/Crooked Brook Structure Plan which promotes the use of drainage swales.

Building

- (e) No more than one dwelling is permitted on each new lot.
- (f) All buildings, structures and on-site effluent disposal systems on each lot shall be contained within the envelope as identified on the applicable Subdivision Guide Plan, unless Council approves a variation to the envelope. Where a building envelope is approved the envelope shall supersede setback requirements.

Vegetation

- (g) No trees or substantial vegetation shall be felled or removed from the site except where:
 - required for approved development works;
 - required to fulfil the provisions of an approved Fire Management Plan;
 - c) required by a Council fire break order; or
 - d) trees are dead, diseased or dangerous.
- (h) Council will request that the WAPC impose a condition of subdivision requiring the preparation and implementation of a tree planting programme.

Foreshore Management

- (i) Council may request the WAPC impose a condition of subdivision for the preparation and implementation of a foreshore management plan to determine the edge of the Preston River, wetland, waterway vegetation line and the conservation requirements for the protection and enhancement of the wetland, waterway.
- (j) Council will request the WAPC impose a condition of subdivision for requirement to cede land free of cost for foreshore purposes consistent with WAPC Policy.

Fire Management

(k) Council will request that the WAPC impose a condition of subdivision requiring the implementation of an approved fire management plan to the satisfaction of Council.

Road and Infrastructure requirements

- (I) Council may request that the WAPC impose a condition of subdivision requiring the provision and construction of bridle paths.
- (m) Council will request that the WAPC impose a condition of subdivision requiring a contribution towards road upgrading for locations identified in the Structure Plan area in accordance with Council Policy.
- (n) Council will request that the WAPC impose a condition of subdivision requiring a contribution towards the upgrading and construction of foreshore facilities identified in the Structure Plan area in accordance with Council Policy.

Fencing

(o) Boundary fencing shall be post and four strand wire 1.0 to 1.3m high or post and ringlock or similar approved by Council. Solid fencing such as super six or pickets shall not be permitted on boundaries and shall only be permitted in proximity to buildings where Council determines that it will not adversely affect the rural amenity of the area. Fencing is to be built to a standard to ensure that all pets are contained on site to minimise conflict with adjoining stock.